

# INTERDISCIPLINARY DOCTORAL SCHOOL

Faculty of Economic Sciences and Business Administration

Brenda-Andreea MUŞA (PIUARU)

# Innovative approaches to communication in the financing process through European funds in Romania

**SUMMARY** 

Scientific supervisor

Prof. Dr. Bianca TESCAŞIU



## **ACKNOWLEDGMENT**

I would like to extend a special acknowledgment to my esteemed scientific coordinator, prof. dr. Bianca TESCAȘIU, for her constant guidance, support and encouragement throughout my academic and research journey. I am grateful to the doctor professor for giving me the opportunity to formulate a relevant theme, to develop a coherent vision and an appropriate research plan, which have fully contributed to the success of the research project and to my professional and personal development. At the same time, I would like to express my gratitude to the members of the evaluation committee for their guidance and supervision during the research program and for the advice and guidance provided. I would like to specially thank prof. dr. Gheorghe EPURAN, for suggesting a possible application of asymmetric information theory in the field of European financing, thereby expanding the scope of the research beyond what I originally intended. I am truly grateful to prof. dr. Bianca-Ioana CHIŢU, who launched the challenge of exploring the possibility of applying marketing to a regulated field, such as that of European funding, as well as to prof. dr. Ileana TACHE for her recommendation to pay due attention in the research to non-governmental organization beneficiaries. My appreciation goes to the teaching staff in the Marketing, Tourism-Services and International Affairs Department for their insightful feedback and advice offered in relation to the doctoral thesis and specially to prof. dr. Nicolae Ion MARINESCU, the coordinator of my bachelor's thesis and whose input to create a "toolkit" of innovative approaches in communication for beneficiaries and authorities significantly contributed to the quality of the doctoral thesis. I would like to thank my colleagues from the doctoral school, with whom I collaborated closely and together with whom we debated numerous topics, published articles and implemented the project "ALUMNI INSERT - Improving the relationship of Transilvania University of Braşov with its graduates through the digitization of specific activities", a project that completed our doctoral studies, taking them beyond the specific field chosen by each of us. I would like to express my appreciation towards the beneficiaries of European funds who have agreed to participate in the research and who have brought a valuable contribution to the research results. I am profoundly thankful to my family for their emotional support, motivation, inspiration and understanding throughout the duration of my doctoral studies, without which this endeavor could not have been completed.

I dedicate this work to **my father and mother**, my relentless supporters and confidential advisers, for their complete devotement to ensuring that all conditions were met so that I could focus on research and maintain work-life balance. Their practical assistance, moral support and encouragement in difficult moments, but also sharing the joy of academic achievements, contributed particularly to the completion of the work.



# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

| CONTENTS OF THE DOCTORAL THESIS                     | 4  |
|---|----|
| LIST OF TABLES                                      | 7  |
| LIST OF FIGURES                                     | 9  |
| INTRODUCTION  |    |
| TOPIC OF THE THESIS AND FIELD OF STUDY              |    |
| KEYWORDS  | 13 |
| PURPOSE OF THE THESIS                               | 14 |
| STRUCTURE (CHAPTERS) OF THE THESIS                  | 15 |
| RESEARCH METHODOLOGY                                |    |
| ORIGINAL RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS                    |    |
| RELEVANCE AND CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE SCIENTIFIC FIELD | 25 |
| FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS                          | 27 |
| DISSEMINATION OF RESULTS                            | 28 |
| SELECTIVE BIBLINGRAPHY                              | 30 |



# **CONTENTS OF THE DOCTORAL THESIS**

| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS  | 7  |
|--|----|
| LIST OF TABLES   | 8  |
| LIST OF FIGURES  | 10 |
| ABSTRACT IN ROMANIAN   | 12 |
| ABSTRACT IN ENGLISH  | 13 |
| INTRODUCTION   | 14 |
| 1. PERSPECTIVES OF COMMUNICATION – CONCEPTUALIZATION AND PARTICULARITIES | 16 |
| 1.1. Communication concept   | 16 |
| 1.1.1. Stages in the evolution of communication studies                  | 20 |
| 1.1.2. Perspectives of communication                                     | 21 |
| 1.2. Communication models  | 24 |
| 1.2.1. Classical processual models                                       | 24 |
| 1.2.2. Classical semiotic models of communication                        | 30 |
| 1.2.3. New communication models  | 32 |
| 1.3. Elements of the communication process                               | 34 |
| 1.3.1. Sender and receiver   | 35 |
| 1.3.2. Message   | 36 |
| 1.3.3. Channel   | 36 |
| 1.3.4. Feedback and feedforward  | 37 |
| 1.3.5. Common codes  | 37 |
| 1.3.6. Noise   | 37 |
| 1.4. New communication and information technologies                      | 38 |
| 1.4.1. A classification of media   | 39 |
| 1.4.2. The influence of technology on communication                      | 39 |
| 1.5. Marketing communication   | 42 |
| 1.5.1. Promotion and communication                                       |    |
| 1.5.2. The promotional mix   | 46 |
| 1.5.3. Online communication methods                                      | 47 |
| 1.5.4. Marketing strategies  | 48 |
| 1.5.5. Characteristics of social/public marketing                        | 49 |
| 1.6. A marketing perspective on European funding                         | 50 |
| 2. THE PUBLIC BUDGET. CONFIGURETION, SURPLUS, DEFICIT, BUDGETARY BALANCE | 52 |
| 2.1. Public budget in theory and practice                                | 53 |
| 2.2. Public revenues and expenditures                                    | 55 |
| 2.3. Budgeting methods   | 58 |
| 2.3.1. Traditional budgeting methods                                     | 58 |
| 2.3.2. Contemporary budgeting methods                                    | 60 |
| 2.4. Surplus, deficit, budgetary balance                                 | 61 |
| 3. BUDGET OF THE EUROPEAN UNION. FUNDING OPTIONS FOR MEMBER STATES       | 64 |
| 3.1. History of the EU budget  | 66 |
| 3.2. EU budget planning  | 68 |
| 3.3. EU budget specificity   | 68 |
| 3.4. The multiannual financial framework and the annual budget           |    |
| 3.5. Management and execution of the EU budget                           | 71 |



|    | 3.6. The size of the EU budget   | 72    |
|----|--|-------|
|    | 3.7. EU budget revenue and expenditure   | 75    |
|    | 3.7.1. EU budget revenues  | 77    |
|    | 3.7.2. EU budget expenditure   | 82    |
|    | 3.8. Funding options for Member States   | 85    |
|    | 3.8.1. Grants  | 87    |
|    | 3.8.2. Financial instruments   | 88    |
|    | 3.8.3. Trust funds   | 88    |
|    | 3.8.4. Prizes  | 89    |
|    | 3.8.5. Subsidies   | 89    |
|    | 3.8.6. Public procurement contracts  | 89    |
|    | 3.9. The Multiannual Financial Framework 2021 – 2027 and Next Generation EU                  | 90    |
| 4. | ANALYSIS OF THE PROCESS OF FUNDING ROMANIA THROUGH EUROPEAN FUNDS                            | 92    |
|    | 4.1. Financing through European funds in Romania   | 92    |
|    | 4.2. The place of communication in European funding  | 94    |
|    | 4.3. The process of communication in the field of European financing in Romania              | 96    |
|    | 4.4. The need for research on the topic of communication                                     | 99    |
|    | 4.5. Communication and absorption rate of European funds in Romania                          | 100   |
|    | 4.6. Absorption rate and information asymmetry in European funding                           | 103   |
| 5. | QUALITATIVE RESEARCH ON THE COMMUNICATION CONDUCTED BY EUROPEAN AND ROMANIA                  | ١N    |
| ΑU | THORITIES IN EUROPEAN FUNDING  | 108   |
|    | 5.1. Research purpose and objectives   | . 108 |
|    | 5.2. Methodology   | . 109 |
|    | 5.2.1. Sample definition and constitution  | . 109 |
|    | 5.2.2. Data collection methods and tools   | . 109 |
|    | 5.2.3. Conducting the research   | 110   |
|    | 5.2.4. Limitations of the research   | 112   |
|    | 5.3. Results and discussions   | 112   |
|    | 5.3.1. Assessment of the communication process between beneficiaries of European funds and   | d     |
|    | authorities involved in fund management at European and national levels                      | 112   |
|    | 5.3.2. Specific aspects of communication with beneficiaries from the perspective of European |       |
|    | and Romanian authorities   | 117   |
|    | 5.3.3. Communication experiences of the stakeholders involved in various stages of European  |       |
|    | projects implementation  | 121   |
|    | 5.3.4. Opportunities for improving the communication process between beneficiaries and       |       |
|    | Romanian authorities involved in the management of European funds                            | . 125 |
| 6. | QUANTITATIVE RESEARCH ON COMMUNICATION BETWEEN BENEFICIARIES AND AUTHORITIES                 | IN    |
| EU | ROPEAN FUNDING IN ROMANIA  | 128   |
|    | 6.1. Purpose, objectives, and hypotheses of the research                                     | . 128 |
|    | 6.2. Data collection methods and tools   |       |
|    | 6.2.1. Questionnaire design  | . 130 |
|    | 6.2.2. Data collection platform  |       |
|    | 6.2.3. Questionnaire pilot testing   |       |
|    | 6.2.4. Target population   |       |
|    | 6.2.5. Sampling method   | . 133 |
|    | 6.2.6. Limitations of the research   | 125   |



| 6.3. Conducting the research   | 135     |
|--|---------|
| 6.4. Results and discussions   | 139     |
| 6.5. Analysis of specific aspects regarding the communication that national and European author  | orities |
| have with beneficiaries of European funds in Romania   | 148     |
| 6.6. Assessing the influence of communication between authorities and beneficiaries on the       |         |
| absorption rate  | 159     |
| 6.7. Identification of innovative approaches regarding communication in the financing process    |         |
| through European funds in Romania  | 163     |
| 7. INNOVATIVE APPROACHES THROUGH COMMUNICATION MODELS IN MARKETING                               | 170     |
| 7.1. The need for innovative approaches in the field of communication in financing through fund  | ls      |
| Europeans  | 171     |
| 7.2. Innovative approaches through communication models in financing through European fund       | ls in   |
| Romania  | 175     |
| 7.2.1. One-way communication model   |         |
| 7.2.2. Two-way communication model   | 187     |
| 7.2.3. A basic design of the communication process in European funding in Romania                | 193     |
| 7.3. Application of specific marketing techniques in communication through European funds in     |         |
| Romania  |         |
| 7.3.1. Macro marketing environment in European funding in Romania                                |         |
| 7.3.2. Micro marketing environment in European funding in Romania                                |         |
| 7.3.3. Specific marketing mix in in financing through European funds in Romania                  |         |
| 7.3.4. Distinctive elements of performance in financing through European funds in Romania        |         |
| 7.4. Other innovative approaches regarding communication in financing through European fund      |         |
| Romania  |         |
| 7.4.1. Innovative approaches to modern and traditional communication methods                     |         |
| 7.4.2. Innovative approaches in the interaction between beneficiaries and authorities            |         |
| 7.4.3. Innovative approaches that take into account the opinion of the beneficiaries             |         |
| FINAL CONCLUSIONS  |         |
| ORIGINAL CONTRIBUTIONS   |         |
| FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS   |         |
| DISSEMINATION OF RESULTS   |         |
| BIBLIOGRAPHY   |         |
| ANNEX 1 Elements of the public budget  |         |
| ANNEX 2 Multiannual Financial Framework 2021 – 2027 and NEXT GENERATION EU (NG-EU)               |         |
| ANNEX 3 Outline of the research design   |         |
| ANNEX 4 Objectives, questions, research issues and expected results for qualitative research     |         |
| ANNEX 5 Focus group interview guide  |         |
| ANNEX 6 Content analysis within qualitative research   |         |
| ANNEX 7 Basic aspects, researcher questions, research objectives and expected results for quanti |         |
| research   |         |
| ANNEX 8 Diagram of links between quantitative research questionnaire questions                   |         |
| ANNEX 9 Quantitative research questionnaire  |         |
| SIND A 10 MATERIAL DI AUTHERIUM  |         |



# **LIST OF TABLES**

| Table 1 The matrix of disciplines that interfere with communication   | 17     |
|---|--------|
| Table 2 Definitions of communication  | 18     |
| Table 3 The evolution of human communication  | 20     |
| Table 4 Communication through the lens of seven great intellectual traditions                               | 21     |
| Table 5 The process school and the semiotic school  | 23     |
| Table 6 Recent contributions to the communication disciplinary field  | 32     |
| Table 7 Theoretical positions on new communication and information technologies                             | 40     |
| Table 8 Communication and promotion tools   | 46     |
| Table 9 Marketing communication from web 1.0 to web 4.0   | 48     |
| Table 10 Perspectives on the budget   | 53     |
| Table 11 Principles of the EU budget  | 75     |
| Table 12 Comparative analysis of the communication activities carried out by the Romanian authorities       | in     |
| the multiannual financial frameworks 2007 – 2013, 2014 – 2020, 2021 – present                               | 98     |
| Table 13 The size of focus groups   | 110    |
| Table 14 Groups and categories of participants in qualitative research                                      | 110    |
| Table 15 Aspects from the project writing stage   | 122    |
| Table 16 Aspects from the project implementation stage  | 122    |
| Table 17 Aspects from the project reporting stage   | 123    |
| Table 18 Aspects from the project monitoring stage  | 124    |
| Table 19 The communication methods that generated the best results  | 126    |
| Table 20 The sampling procedure   | 134    |
| Table 21 Methods of distributing the questionnaire through social media networks and messaging              |        |
| applications  | 138    |
| Table 22 Descriptive statistical analysis for the communication conducted by European authorities with      | 1      |
| beneficiaries of European funds in Romania  | 150    |
| Table 23 Descriptive statistics for the specific aspects of the communication conducted by the Europea      | .n     |
| authorities   | 151    |
| Table 24 Descriptive statistical analysis for the communication conducted by national authorities with      |        |
| beneficiaries of European funds in Romania  | 153    |
| Table 25 Descriptive statistics for specific aspects of communication conducted by authorities in Roma      | nia155 |
| Table 26 Paired-Sample T-Test for testing the difference between the communication of European and          | ł      |
| Romanian authorities (paired sample statistics)   | 155    |
| Table 27 Paired-Sample T-Test for testing the difference between communication with European and            |        |
| Romanian authorities (paired sample correlations)   | 156    |
| Table 28 One-Sample T-Test (statistics) for testing the link between communication and the absorption       | n rate |
| of European funds in Romania  | 161    |
| Table 29 One-Sample T-Test for testing the link between communication and the absorption rate of            |        |
| European funds in Romania   | 161    |
| Table 30 One-Sample T-Test (statistics) for the analysis of aspects that would significantly improve        |        |
| communication between beneficiaries and authorities   | 167    |
| Table 31 Elements that influence communication in financing through European funds                          | 173    |
| Table 32 Key differences between "signal" and "message" in financing through European funds in Roma         | ania17 |
| Table 33 Roles, responsibilities, characteristics and qualities of the "source" in financing through Europe | ean    |
| funds in Romania  | 180    |



| Table 34 Components of the informational content of the " <i>message</i> " in financing through European funds                    | s in  |
|---|-------|
| Romania   | . 181 |
| Table 35 Categories of information that can be included in the message in financing through European ful                          | nds   |
| in Romania  | .182  |
| Table 36 The five senses of humans as communication channels in European funding in Romania                                       | .184  |
| Table 37 Characteristics of the " <i>receiver</i> " in financing through European funds in Romania                                | .186  |
| Table 38 The components of " <i>context</i> " in the two-way model of communication   | .188  |
| Table 39 The social and temporal context in financing through European funds in Romania   | .189  |
| Table 40 The " <i>message</i> " when the authorities are " <i>sources</i> " of information and the beneficiaries are              |       |
| "receivers"   | .197  |
| Table 41 The " <i>message</i> " when beneficiaries are " <i>sources</i> " of information and authorities are " <i>receivers</i> " | .198  |
| Table 42 Types of " <i>communication channels</i> " in financing through European funds   | .199  |
| Table 43 Sources of " <i>noise</i> " in financing through European funds  | .200  |
| Table 44 The benefits of adopting an appropriate communication model in financing through European                                |       |
| funds   | .203  |
| Table 45 Elements of the external marketing environment of public authorities   | .205  |
| Table 46 Innovative approaches to modern methods of communication in financing through European fur                               | nds   |
| in Romania  | . 214 |
| Table 47 Innovative approaches to traditional methods of communication in financing through European                              |       |
| funds in Romania  | . 215 |
| Table 48 Innovative approaches in the interaction between beneficiaries and authorities   | . 216 |
| Table 49 Innovative approaches in relation to specific aspects highlighted by beneficiaries in financing                          |       |
| through Furopean funds in Romania   | .218  |



# **LIST OF FIGURES**

| Figure 1 Communication sciences – milestones   | 23      |
|--|---------|
| Figure 2 Shannon-Weaver model (schematic diagram of a general communication system)                    | 25      |
| Figure 3 The Berlo model   | 25      |
| Figure 4 The Lasswell model (McQuail – Windahl diagram corresponding to the Lasswell model)            | 26      |
| Figure 5 The Gerbner model (diagram and descriptive form)  | 26      |
| Figure 6 Extended Gerbner's model, comparison between the Shannon-Weaver model (top) and the           | Gerbner |
| model (bottom)   | 27      |
| Figure 7 Newcomb's model   | 28      |
| Figure 8 The original Westley and MacLean model  | 28      |
| Figure 9 Westley and MacLean's Modified model for mass communication                                   | 29      |
| Figure 10 The elements of meaning in Peirce's model (common areas, relations)                          |         |
| Figure 11 Peirce's model vs. Ogden and Richards' model   | 31      |
| Figure 12 Saussure's model   | 32      |
| Figure 13 The communication process, as a juxtaposition of elementary communication sequences          | 34      |
| Figure 14 Basic diagram of the communication process   | 35      |
| Figure 15 Stages of marketing evolution  | 43      |
| Figure 16 The evolution of the role of marketing within a company                                      | 44      |
| Figure 17 The promotion system of the service enterprise   | 50      |
| Figure 18 Differences between private (individual) budget and public (government) budget               | 52      |
| Figure 19 Classifications of public expenditures   | 57      |
| Figure 20 Traditional and contemporary budgeting methods   | 58      |
| Figure 21 Share of global gross domestic product (%)   | 65      |
| Figure 22 The evolution of the EU budget   | 66      |
| Figure 23 The evolution of the revenue structure of EU budget  | 67      |
| Figure 24 The evolution of the EU budget expenditure structure, by policy areas                        | 67      |
| Figure 25 The evolution of multiannual financial frameworks  | 68      |
| Figure 26 The standard budgetary procedure for adopting the EU's annual budget                         |         |
| Figure 27 Management of the EU budget  | 72      |
| Figure 28 The share of the EU budget in gross national income  | 73      |
| Figure 29 Comparison between the EU budget and the budget of some member states                        | 74      |
| Figure 30 Sources of financing of the EU budget(   | 77      |
| Figure 31 Corrections applied during 2021 – 2027 MFF   | 80      |
| Figure 32 Share of revenue categories in the EU budget in 2019   |         |
| Figure 33 Breakdown of EU budget expenditure   | 83      |
| Figure 34 Evolution of EU expenditure according to priority areas                                      | 84      |
| Figure 35 Allocations of MFF 2021 – 2027 and Next Generation EU by budget lines/categories             | 85      |
| Figure 36 Types of EU funding  | 85      |
| Figure 37 The pathway to accessing EU funding opportunities  | 87      |
| Figure 38 Integration of ESI funds into the EU's political priorities                                  | 90      |
| Figure 39 The relationship between communication, trust and commitment                                 |         |
| Figure 40 The scheme of an effective public communication  | 100     |
| Figure 41 Graphic representation in territorial profile of the 2014-2020 ESIF absorption rate in the m |         |
| states of the European Union (until 30/06/2020)  |         |
| Figure 42 ESIF spent per EU member state in millions of Euros (until 30/06/2020)                       | 101     |



| Figure 43 The evolution of the ESIF absorption rate 2017 – 2024 in Romania                         | 102           |
|--|---------------|
| Figure 44 Information asymmetry between the management authority and the beneficiary of Eur        | =             |
|  |               |
| Figure 45 Information asymmetry between the beneficiary of European funds and the consultant       |               |
| Figure 46 The share of focus group participants according to the selection criteria                |               |
| Figure 47 Communication tools used by respondents  |               |
| Figure 48 Distribution of responses by age   |               |
| Figure 49 Distribution of answers regarding the last level of education completed                  | 141           |
| Figure 50 Distribution of responses by gender  |               |
| Figure 51 Distribution of responses by the number of projects financed by European funds           | 142           |
| Figure 52 Distribution of responses by participation in certain stages of the project              | 142           |
| Figure 53 Distribution of answers regarding the MFF in which the participation in the project occu | red143        |
| Figure 54 Distribution of answers regarding the legal form of the organization receiving European  | າ funds 144   |
| Figure 55 The development region where the beneficiary organizations of European funds were r      | egistered     |
|  | 146           |
| Figure 56 Distribution of answers regarding the role within the organization receiving European f  | unds 147      |
| Figure 57 Participants experience in projects managed by European and Romanian authorities         | 148           |
| Figure 58 Differences in communication approaches of European and national authorities             | 149           |
| Figure 59 Assessment of communication between European authorities and beneficiaries in Rom        | nania 149     |
| Figure 60 Specific aspects of communication conducted by European authorities                      | 150           |
| Figure 61 Assessment of communication between national authorities and beneficiaries in Roma       | nia152        |
| Figure 62 Specific aspects of the communication conducted by the Romanian authorities              | 153           |
| Figure 63 Factors that influence the communication of Romanian authorities with the beneficiarion  | es157         |
| Figure 65 Other specific aspects of the communication conducted by the Romanian authorities        | 158           |
| Figure 66 The link between communication and the absorption rate of European funds                 | 159           |
| Figure 67 Descriptive statistics for the relationship between communication and the absorption r   | ate160        |
| Figure 68 Aspects that influence the link between communication and uptake rate                    | 162           |
| Figure 69 Influence of communication on the intention to access European funds                     | 163           |
| Figure 70 The most commonly used tools in beneficiary-authority communication                      | 164           |
| Figure 71 Beneficiaries' preference for traditional and modern communication methods               | 165           |
| Figure 72 Preferred methods of interaction with officials managing European funds authorities      | 166           |
| Figure 73 Aspects of beneficiary-authority communication that should be maintained                 |               |
| Figure 74 Aspects that would significantly improve communication between beneficiaries and au      | thorities 169 |
| Figure 75 A basic design of the communication process in European funding in Romania               | 193           |



## INTRODUCTION

The paper "Innovative approaches to communication in the financing process through European funds in Romania" is oriented towards addressing certain social or individual problems in the field of European funding, based on individual questions within the author's sphere of interest and the author's desire to contribute to finding common solutions for people accessing European funds or participating in European-funded projects.

The research conducted in this purpose involved a complex process with multiple stages and often took on an interdisciplinary character, in which the fields of communication, marketing, European funding, and several others intersected. The initial idea from which the paper started underwent few changes throughout the process, but as it became increasingly familiar and its detailed elements were discovered and retained, new directions for research and exploration of the intended topic were identified by the author. Clearly, the essential starting point was the formulation of the research questions, as they represented essential tools during the entire research process, influencing many of the subsequent stages.

The aim of this paper was to describe and study certain phenomena observed in reality that underlie a particular point of view in regard to the communication conducted by the authorities involved in managing European funds and the beneficiaries of these funds. Furthermore, the goal was to provide arguments that support or contradict this point of view and, at the same time, to make a comparison between the communication of national and European authorities with the beneficiaries. The thesis was stated based on three working hypotheses. The first one is that there are certain differences in the communication approach between European and national authorities in relation to beneficiaries of European funds in Romania. The second is that there is a direct link between the communication conducted by the authorities responsible for managing European funds and the absorption rate of these funds in Romania. The third and final working hypothesis is that the communication activities of the involved authorities can be improved through the application of communication techniques in marketing. These working hypotheses represented the guiding thread, structuring the paper to prevent deviations from the analytical and argumentative path, which is essential for testing, confirming, refuting, or nuancing them.

To ensure that the concerns in this field are significant, relevant, and up-to-date, the author aimed to identify innovative approaches to communication in European funding in Romania, so that the paper contributes to even a small progress in the research area, adding to the global academic conversation. Starting from the consideration that it is not sufficient for the paper to present only the author's viewpoint and considering what the specialized literature has already discovered, the thesis presents itself as a necessary response or reaction to the work done by other researchers in the field. Thus, in building its argumentation, the author utilized existing data from various books, publications, reports, as well as other marketing research conducted in the field of European funding. The analysis of the scholarly literature revealed that the topic of communication is frequently debated and has become a research subject for projects at the European level. The allocation of funds for such projects once again emphasizes the high interest of the Union in this subject and that communication should always hold an important place in decision-making.



Certainly, regarding information and communication in European funding, there is a well-established regulatory framework with clear obligations for the involved parties, so one of the natural questions would adress the necessity of a paper on communication. The reality has shown that despite the regulation in the field of information and communication, the absorption of European funds has become a significant concern regarding the implementation of European policies, as many member states have encountered difficulties in terms of absorption. Often, this situation has been approached from an institutional, procedural, or legislative perspective, focusing on eliminating fraud, reducing political influence in the project selection process, harmonizing legislation with European legislation, or identifying viable mechanisms to ensure co-financing. In this context, a research on communication, tahta analyses the extent to which communication emerges as a factor with direct influence or, in certain situations, with indirect and subtle influence on the absorption rate, can bring novelty elements to the field under investigation, as well as a series of innovative approaches that could contribute to a better absorption of European funds in Romania.



#### TOPIC OF THE THESIS AND FIELD OF STUDY

The paper highlights and details certain aspects of the communication between beneficiaries of European funds in Romania and the authorities responsible for managing the funds at national and European levels. Through a research design that contributes to uncovering valuable information about the communication process, this paper investigates the differences in approach between European and Romanian authorities regarding communication, explores the influence of communication on the absorption rate of European funds in Romania, and presents multiple innovative approaches aimed at improving the communication process between beneficiaries and authorities involved in managing European funds.

Overall, the paper brings into attention several aspects that can facilitate interaction among stakeholders involved in the implementation of European-funded projects in Romania. The paper reveals new perspectives regarding the challenges faced by beneficiaries when accessing and utilizing European funds and emphasizes the importance of possessing adequate communication skills. For authorities managing European funds, the research findings can serve as a starting point in building effective communication strategies that contribute to better interaction among stakeholders.

The paper can be placed under the fundamental field of Social Sciences, the branch of Economic Sciences, in the of Marketing.

## **KEYWORDS**

Communication, marketing, communication in marketing, budget, European Union budget, beneficiaries of European funds, management authorities, innovative approaches in communication.



#### **PURPOSE OF THE THESIS**

The research tried to identify certain patterns of action in various circumstances and understand how beneficiaries of European funds relate to the communication they have with the authorities responsible for managing the funds, taking into account their personal experiences, whether a positive or a negative one. Additionally, the research sought to explain the reasons for which a beneficiary decides to adopt a particular behavior in their relationship with the authorities, as well as their future intentions regarding the use of European funds as a financing option.

In order to evaluate the communication process between beneficiaries of European funds and the authorities involved in managing the funds at European and national levels, and to identify specific aspects of communication from the perspective of European and Romanian authorities, the analysis of secondary data had the following objectives:

- To investigate European funding in Romania from a communication standpoint;
- To determine the role of communication in European funding from Romania's accession to the EU until the present;
- To analyze communication and the absorption rate of European funds in Romania through the lens of asymmetric information theory.

The aim of the qualitative research was to study specific aspects regarding the approach of European and Romanian authorities in terms of communication throughout the lifecycle of a project funded trough European funds (during the writing, implementation, reporting, monitoring stages). In this regard, four objectives were established for the qualitative research:

- To evaluate the communication process between beneficiaries of European funds and the authorities involved in managing the funds at the European and national levels;
- To identify specific aspects of communication of European and Romanian authorities:
- To highlight and describe the experiences of stakeholders involved in various stages of projects (writing, implementation, reporting, monitoring) regarding communication.
- To identify opportunities to improve the communication process between beneficiaries and Romanian authorities involved in managing European funds.

To determine and assess the phenomena and aspects identified in the qualitative research, quantitative research was undertaken, in which certain variables were measured. **The following objectives formed the basis of the quantitative research** on communication between beneficiaries and authorities in European funding in Romania:

- To analyze specific communication aspects that national and European authorities have with beneficiaries of European funds in Romania.
- To evaluate the influence of communication on the absorption rate;
- To identify innovative approaches to communication in the process of European funding in Romania.



## STRUCTURE (CHAPTERS) OF THE THESIS

**Chapter 1** addresses the concepts of "communication" and "marketing" with the aim of providing an overview of the current scientific knowledge. This chapter includes an evaluative synthesis of relevant research and publications in the field of study, highlighting progress, trends, limitations, and gaps in current knowledge. The study of the communication concept is considered important in the research field of European funding in Romania because adequate communication can ensure efficient, transparent, and responsible implementation of projects funded by European funds in Romania. By understanding and applying communication principles and strategies from the specialized literature, the impact and success of projects funded by European funds can be maximized. Therefore, the aim of studying communication in this chapter is to identify multiple theoretical communication models from which the most suitable model for European funding in Romania can be selected, tailored to the specific characteristics of the analyzed field, providing an optimal framework for the research in Chapters 4, 5, and 6. The concept of communication is analyzed from the perspective of the evolution of human communication, as well as through the lens of seven major intellectual traditions (rhetoric, semiotics, phenomenology, cybernetics, social psychology, sociocultural theories, and critical theories). The interdisciplinary nature of communication is evident, as well as the impossibility of a single definition. The chapter synthesizes the main currents in the field of communication: foundational theories, the empirical-functionalistic approach to mass communication, and the structural method, as well as the two major orientations: process school and semiotic school. The chapter details eight classical process models of communication and three classical semiotic models. It also synthesizes recent contributions to the disciplinary field of communication brought by the Palo Alto School ("invisible college"), the Chicago School, and the Frankfurt School ("critical school"). Based on the conceptual framework provided by the analyzed theoretical models, correlated with the aim and objectives of the research topic, a theoretical communication model consisting of eight elements is outlined to allow for the correct interpretation and understanding of communication in the field of European funding. The chapter also explores new communication and information technologies, considering the influence technology has on communication.

The concept of marketing, specifically communication in marketing, is addressed, taking into account their importance in European funding. To understand the current position of marketing, the stages of its evolution and the changing conceptions of its role within a company throughout the 20th century are analyzed. Marketing communication is examined based on the definition given by the American Marketing Association and is framed within the promotional mix. The chapter reviews classical communication and promotion tools, online communication methods, and "push" and "pull" marketing strategies. The concepts of "inbound" and "outbound marketing" are also discussed. Finally, the peculiarities of social/public marketing are listed, considering their relevance to the field of European funding, where public authorities managing these funds play an important role. The chapter concludes with a marketing perspective on European funding.

**Chapter 2** provides a detailed theoretical examination of the concept of budgeting, aiming to enhance understanding of how public revenues and expenditures are managed. Such an approach is considered necessary before delving into the broader study of the European Union budget and financing options



for member states in Chapter 3. Firstly, the differences between private and public budgets are highlighted, followed by an attempt to identify a theory of public budgeting. It is observed that the field of budgeting is eclectic, dominated by multiple, often competing theories. Despite the absence of a universally valid theory of budgeting, in practice, budgeting continues, with public institutions conducting their activities through a financial plan that includes revenues and expenditures. In relation to the budget, its purpose, approval process, mandatory and annual nature, management mode, essential components, budgetary principles, and prerequisites for budgetary balance are analyzed. Sources of public revenue are also examined, noting that they vary from country to country and that there are significant differences in approaches to taxation, tax rates, and excise duties. Regarding public expenditures, it is noted that they only drew the attention of scholars after World War II, when the significant increase in public spending began to put pressure on states with high budgetary deficits. Budget classifications and their role in budget formulation and policy-making are discussed. To understand how a public budget is developed, three classical budgeting methods (automatic method, incremental method, and direct evaluation method) and five modern methods (cost-benefit or costeffectiveness method, planning, programming, and budgeting method or PPBS, management by objectives method or MBO, zero-based budgeting method or ZBB, and rational choice budgeting method or RCB) are analyzed in detail. The chapter details the concepts of "surplus," "deficit," "budgetary balance," and addresses the topic of "intergenerational justice" when considering the increase in public debt. This chapter contributes to a better understanding of the financial context of a country and how the public budget is structured before exploring into the detailed analysis of the European Union budget, which is closely linked to the national budgets of EU member states.

Chapter 3 provides a detailed presentation of the European Union budget and the financing options available to member states. In order to understand the evolution of the EU budget over its 71 years of existence, the history of the EU budget is synthesized, from the administrative and operational budget of the ECSC (1951) to the budgets of the EEC and EURATOM, and finally to the EU budget as it stands today. The planning of the EU budget and its specific elements related to its historical evolution, financing, planning, and utilization are presented. Aspects related to multiannual financial frameworks, budget management (direct management, shared management), and the size of the EU budget, which contrary to expectations, it is not very large compared to the national budgets of certain member states, are discussed. Revenues and expenditures of the EU budget are detailed, and the advantages of EU membership are highlighted. Regarding revenues, the sources of EU budget financing, including own resources (traditional own resources, resources based on VAT, GNI-based resources, and plastic waste and packaging tax), and other revenues (penalties, fines, taxes on EU staff salaries, surplus from previous years, technical adjustments, and contributions from other states) are presented. The evolution of EU expenditures according to priority areas and the allocations of the MFF 2021-2027 and Next Generation EU are also presented.

**Chapter 4** investigates the process of European funding in Romania with the aim of evaluating the communication process between beneficiaries of European funds and the authorities involved in managing the funds at the European and national levels. Using secondary data analysis as research method, the place of communication in European funding in Romania is analyzed, and the



communication process between beneficiaries and authorities is detailed. In this regard, the communication strategies adopted in the first two programming periods in which Romania participated as a member state (National Communication Strategy 2007-2013, National Communication Strategy for Structural Instruments 2014-2020) are described, and a comparative analysis of communication activities carried out by Romanian authorities in the multiannual financial frameworks 2007-2013, 2014-2020, 2021-present is conducted, with a focus on the responsibilities of authorities and beneficiaries regarding communication and information. The relationship between communication, trust, and commitment, with an emphasis on the predominantly negative perception that the general public has of public institutions, is explored, and a scheme for effective public communication based on Heise's model of effective public communication is presented. In order to investigate the link between communication and the absorption rate of European funds in Romania, a graphical representation of the territorial profile of the absorption rate of structural funds from the 2014-2020 multiannual financial framework in EU member states is presented, and the regression analysis method is used to predict the absorption rate's evolution until 2024. By examining the three protagonists in the European funding market (beneficiaries, consultants, and authorities managing European funds in Romania), the theory of information asymmetry is applied to the relationship between the management authority and the beneficiary of European funds, as well as the relationship between the beneficiary and the consultant. This identifies the reasons for certain behaviors of beneficiaries, authorities, or consultants and explains why, for example, bureaucracy in the field is high. The manifestation of adverse selection and moral hazard in the European funding market and the signaling required in this field are also exemplified.

Chapter 5 presents the results of a qualitative research based on the focus group method, investigating the existence of specific aspects in the approach of European and Romanian authorities regarding communication throughout the lifecycle of a project funded by European funds (writing, implementation, reporting, monitoring). In the first part of the chapter, the context in which the research was conducted and the need for such a study are presented, as well as the results of other similar research conducted on the topic of communication in European funding in Romania. The research results highlight certain challenges faced by beneficiaries in implementing projects funded by European funds in Romania, as well as obstacles in communication with authorities responsible for fund management, emphasizing the effects of ineffective communication on the absorption rate of European funds. The research reveals a potential link between communication and the absorption rate, along with other aspects of communication with authorities, which are subsequently analyzed in the quantitative research in Chapter 6.

**Chapter 6** encompasses a quantitative research aiming to identify innovative approaches in communication in European funding in Romania. Valuable information is obtained through an electronically administered survey regarding beneficiaries' satisfaction with the communication carried out by authorities managing European funds and differences in communication between Romanian and European authorities are discovered. The research investigates a possible link between communication actions and the absorption rate of European funds, as well as the factors influencing this link. Additionally, the willingness and intention to access European funds are examined,



considering the communication conducted by European/Romanian authorities with beneficiaries, and the communication needs of beneficiaries regarding European funds are explored. The research contributes to understanding the behavior of the involved parties (beneficiaries, authorities, consultants), how they interact, and how they utilize communication methods, thus providing the necessary basis for identifying innovative approaches in communication in European funding in Romania.

Chapter 7 details the need for innovative approaches in communication in the field of European funding, an area constantly influenced by new technologies, cultural changes, the evolution of the online environment, and social, economic, and political requirements. The ways in which member states ensure communication with beneficiaries of European funds are presented, highlighting both the positive aspects and the challenges in communicating with multiple stakeholders. Building upon the analysis of communication models from the literature and the results of qualitative and quantitative research described in Chapters 5 and 6, several innovative approaches are proposed in terms of communication. A first approach considers the application of two communication models (unidirectional model and bidirectional model) to the specifics of European funding in Romania, along with a proposed basic desogn of the communication process in European funding. For each model, the component elements (source, transmitter, receiver, recipient, channel, message, noise, common codes) are described in detail, providing an overview of communication in European funding in Romania that can serve as a basis for developing effective communication strategies. The possibility of applying specific marketing techniques to the field of European funding in Romania is also explored. The external environment and microenvironment in which management authorities operate are presented, the four components of the marketing mix (product, price, distribution, and promotion) are described, and the distinctive performance elements in relation to competition in European funding in Romania are listed. A third category of innovative approaches specifically addresses the findings of the quantitative research, proposing a series of measures regarding modern and traditional communication methods, as well as specific aspects highlighted by beneficiaries in European funding in Romania.



#### RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

In order to outline the actual dimensions regarding specific aspects of communication conducted by European and Romanian authorities and to determine the underpinning causes of attitudes, behaviors, opinions, and future intentions of beneficiaries of European funding in Romania, as well as the subjective, emotional, or unconscious elements underlying them, the study focused on understanding and explaining the phenomenon under investigation using various investigation means and techniques. For this purpose, a mixed research design was employed, combining qualitative and quantitative research methods for a comprehensive understanding of the research topic.

Through an **exploratory research**, aimed at identifying detailed information contributing to a more accurate definition of the analyzed problem and uncovering the underlying real causes of the studied phenomenon, through a **descriptive research**, which aimed to characterize the research subject and determine the extent of differences among European funds beneficiaries, and through a **causal/explanatory research**, intended to establish the cause-effect relationships and dependencies between different variables, the research topic was approached comprehensively to provide enhanced clarity of the investigated phenomenon.

The combination of different types of data allowed the triangulation of conclusions, validation of results, and obtaining a holistic perspective on the research topic. Qualitative data facilitated obtaining in-depth perspectives, rich descriptions, and specific contextual information, while quantitative data allowed for statistical analysis, generalizations, and numerical comparisons. The integration of qualitative and quantitative data in the mixed research design was achieved through sequential data collection and analysis, where qualitative data were collected and analyzed first, followed by the quantitative data analysis.

The main **methods of exploratory research** used were:

- The use of **secondary data** from other marketing research conducted in the same field and published in various publications and reports to identify trends in communication between beneficiaries and authorities.
- **Qualitative study** based on the technique of direct research through semi-structured group interviews, using group discussion or focus group as the research method.

For descriptive and causal/explanatory research, a specific research method was employed, namely an **online survey** conducted through the internet. Data was collected through a webpage where respondents could complete the questionnaire after being invited to participate in the research and provided with the access link to the questionnaire. The analysis of secondary data is included in Chapter 4, the qualitative study on communication carried out by European authorities and those in Romania in European funding is the subject of discussion in Chapter 5, and the quantitative research on communication between beneficiaries and authorities in European funding in Romania is extensively presented in Chapter 6.



#### ORIGINAL RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS

The paper addresses the communication led by European and Romanian authorities in European funding from the perspective of beneficiaries and consultants who participated in projects funded trough European funds, managed by national and European authorities. Through a mixed research design that allowed the disclosure of valuable information highlighting important opinions about the communication process between beneficiaries and the authorities involved, this study investigated specific aspects related to the approach of European and Romanian authorities regarding communication throughout the lifespan of a project funded by European funds. It explored the influence of communication on the absorption rate of European funds in Romania and identified several possibilities for improving the communication process between beneficiaries and the Romanian authorities involved in fund management.

The research brought into attention important subjects that shed an interesting light on the journey that a beneficiary of European funds experiences in terms of communication, from the moment they decide to apply with their project for European financing until the completion of the project. The research results captured certain nuances and details regarding the perception of the communication process with authorities and demonstrated that, in general, communication with European authorities is perceived as better than the one with Romanian authorities. While positive elements such as "flexibility," "openness," "professionalism," and "variety of communication methods used" were generally highlighted in the characterization of communication with European authorities, respondents used derogatory words and expressions such as "demanding", "contradictions", "unclear information," "excessive bureaucracy" or "unrealistic deadlines" regarding communication with Romanian authorities. These results are consistent with the findings of Şerban (2014), emphasizing the importance of improving communication between authorities, consultants, and beneficiaries as part of the internal strategy for absorbing European funds in Romania.

The research highlighted that, although there is a desire on the part of authorities to improve the process, as well as certain public officials who facilitate the communication, **the issue of human resources within the authorities cannot be ignored**. Often, these resources are insufficient for the large number of projects that need to be managed or are not adequately prepared to streamline the entire process of absorbing European funds. These results, although indirectly related to communication, are consistent with the observations of Sapir et al. (2004) and Şerban (2014), who underline two systemic aspects related to the unsatisfactory absorption of European funds, namely administrative capacity and continuously changing legislation.

Regarding the link between communication and the absorption rate of European funds in Romania, both qualitative and quantitative research revealed that such a link exists, it is intense and involves a multitude of factors, the proper management of which can contribute to better communication. Among these factors, sustained dialogue between beneficiaries and authorities, the use of an appropriate language that is not overly specialized, increasing communication skills for all involved parties, and establishing intra- and inter-organizational communication procedures can be mentioned. The results



are partially in line with the observations of Georgescu (2008), Tudor & Florain (2018), and Marcu et al. (2020), who place communication amongst the domains that can contribute to increasing the absorption rate of European funds in Romania.

Regarding the opinions resulting from the personal experience of European funds beneficiaries, a series of positive elements were highlighted, as well as barriers in communication that beneficiaries of European funds in Romania face when interacting with the authorities. Among the positive aspects mentioned, in line with Georgescu (2008), there are pleasant experiences in the relationship with certain officers of the management authorities who have proven to be not only competent but also proactive, on-site visits that accelerate communication between beneficiaries and authorities, the possibility of informal communication with representatives of the authorities, or the existence of online platforms through which funding applications can be submitted. Concerns related to obstacles encountered when accessing European funding were primarily related to the overly specialized language, different interpretations of requirements by the parties involved, the large volume of documents required when submitting a funding application, the need for intermediation of the relationship between authorities and beneficiaries by a consultant, the competence of officials managing European funds, or the need to improve online platforms to make them easier to use. Compared to previous findings by Micu et al. (2013a, 2013b) or Georgescu (2008), the results of this study demonstrate progress regarding systemic issues, which were previously characterized as "not calibrated to the real needs of beneficiaries and the need for the full utilization of the allocated funds in Romania" (Serban, 2014). Thus, the research highlighted that despite the obstacles beneficiaries still encounter, authorities have found appropriate solutions that enable more efficient management of funding through European funds, compared to previous multiannual financial frameworks.

Regarding the perception of communication carried out by Romanian authorities compared to that by European authorities, the research results highlighted a difference in approach regarding how beneficiaries are treated when seeking clarifications or when representatives of the authorities visit for monitoring purposes. In line with Luca (2005), a significant distance from the authority is observed in the relationship with public officials managing European funds in Romania, while this distance diminishes significantly in the relationship with European authorities, which takes place in a natural, relaxed environment built on trust and mutual support. An important difference was also emphasized regarding the documentation related to project calls, both in terms of volume and content. At the European level, the documents have relevant and concise content, are easy to complete, have fewer pages, and provide flexibility in conforming to certain templates. It was particularly emphasized that European authorities have dedicated funds for communication actions and the development of user-friendly online platforms that integrate artificial intelligence, as well as funds allowing for diversification of communication methods.

Similarly, to the results obtained by Micu (2013a and 2013b), **email has become the main communication tool** between beneficiaries and authorities. Especially during the COVID-19 pandemic and the post-pandemic period, email has been recognized as an official communication tool, alongside **specific online platforms** (e.g. MySMIS). For informal communications, phone calls are predominantly



used, and among other communication tools, the research identified face-to-face meetings, conferences, official documents, or project-specific communication and dissemination activities.

The evaluation of communication based on the four project stages (writing, implementation, reporting, monitoring) revealed several positive aspects, as well as areas where communication can be improved regarding the applicant's guide, human resources involved in the communication process, communication tools used, online information access, or other specific elements of each project stage. Participants in the research appreciated the existence of an applicant's guide and a list of frequently asked questions, particularly during the project writing phase, and expressed the need to simplify the accompanying documentation of the guidelines in terms of content and volume throughout the project's lifespan. Regarding the human resources involved, the important role of European fund access experts and authorities, especially in the writing, implementation, and reporting phases of the project, was highlighted. In line with Serban (2014), aspects that can be improved were mentioned, such as the interpretation of requirements, consistency and clarity of information, responsiveness to requests, and in the reporting phase, the importance of flexibility in applying instructions and shifting the focus to results rather than documents or their completion method. Regarding communication tools, the research showed that the availability of specific online platforms is particularly appreciated by beneficiaries during the writing, reporting, and monitoring phases, while during the implementation phase, they feel the need for direct and rapid interaction with the authorities via email, phone, online or offline meetings. Improving the functionality of online platforms was emphasized as necessary during the writing, reporting, and monitoring stages, along with increased digitization so that data already submitted by beneficiaries in older funding applications (e.g. the organizaton's constitutive act, unique registration code etc.) or annual financial reports (e.g. balance sheet) can be accessed by authorities from a database without requiring beneficiaries to provide them again. Business plan writing courses were listed as positive aspects during the project writing phase, while realistic response deadlines were identified as the main aspect that can be improved during the writing, implementation, and reporting stages. In the monitoring phase, beneficiaries expect to be informed about the importance of this stage in the project's lifecycle.

Regarding the **information needs** of European fund beneficiaries in Romania, the importance of information accessibility was distinguished in terms of the possibility of accessing information and understanding its content, either through providing more details or through interactions with competent individuals within the authorities who can clarify any ambiguities. In line with Şerban (2014), significant emphasis was placed on information transparency, consistency, and accuracy, considering their direct impact on project implementation timelines. An interesting aspect that emerged from the research regarding communication needs is that both beneficiaries and authorities require education on communication, so that the interaction between the beneficiary and the authority can occur as smoothly and efficiently as possible.

Regarding the **dynamics of the communication process**, the research results highlighted the need for authorities to emphasize digitization (increased visibility on social networks, online platforms, organizing webinars, etc.), proper utilization of existing communication channels (email, phone, etc.), and simplification of language. **Traditional and modern communication** methods were analyzed based



on four criteria: visibility, accessibility, efficiency, and interactivity. In line with Georgescu (2008), Şerban (2014), and Marcu et al. (2020), the research results showed that modern communication methods are preferred in terms of visibility, accessibility, and efficiency, while traditional methods allow for direct contact with staff from the authorities, which can provide better understanding of information, faster clarification of ambiguities, and are accessible to all categories of the public, including those who do not know how to use modern communication methods.

Regarding the identification of innovative communication methods between beneficiaries and Romanian authorities in European funding, the research results confirm the observations of Georgescu (2008) regarding the importance of competencies and motivation of human resources working in European funding programs managed by management authorities and intermediary bodies. Thus, among the innovative approaches to communication in European funding in Romania, specific hiring criteria (e.g. previous experience in projects with European funding) and redefining the role of the authority to focus on the needs of beneficiaries and support them throughout the project's duration were identified. On the part of beneficiaries, an innovative method identified was the requirement for participation in training sessions for project writing, implementation, reporting, and monitoring as a criterion for funding approval. The results are in line with Serban (2014) regarding the use of questionnaires or evaluation forms to collect feedback from stakeholders, the utilization of all available modern communication methods (social media, web portals etc.), and allocation of funds to increase and improve administrative capacity in communication. An interesting proposal was made regarding the need for mediation of the communication relationship between authorities and beneficiaries by an independent body, especially in situations where authorities identify the need for financial corrections, which can be catastrophic for certain beneficiaries of European funds.

In conclusion, the research confirms the general hypotheses of the study, as the results show significant differences in communication between Romanian authorities and European authorities when interacting with beneficiaries of European funds. Additionally, the results indicate a significant influence of communication on the absorption rate of European funds in Romania. In terms of identifying innovative approaches to communication, considering that the research revealed the underlying elements of certain behaviors, attitudes, opinions, motives, and intentions of beneficiaries of European funds in Romania, the results contribute to a better understanding of how beneficiaries perceive the communication they have with the authorities managing these funds. Thus, by understanding the reasons why a beneficiary decides to adopt a certain behavior in their relationship with the authorities, as well as their future intentions regarding the use of European funds as a financing option, the research contributes to the development of innovative approaches tailored to the needs of beneficiaries, but which can be used at the same time by the authorities in defining effective communication strategies.

Funding through European funds offers significant opportunities for the development of Romania. However, the process of understanding and accessing these funds can often be complex and challenging for potential beneficiaries. Innovative approaches to communication in European funding in Romania are important for several reasons. Firstly, they can simplify and clarify information, making it more accessible and easily understandable for all interested parties. Innovative communication can



contribute to the creation of a culture of transparency and accountability in the use of European funds. Through modern communication channels, up-to-date information about projects, implementation stages, resources used, and achieved results can be provided, allowing beneficiaries and the general public to monitor and evaluate how European funds are managed and utilized in Romania. Innovative communication approaches can stimulate innovation and sustainable development in projects funded by European funds. By promoting best practices and successful examples, beneficiaries can be inspired and motivated to implement innovative solutions and achieve sustainable and impactful results. Innovative communication can mobilize and engage the target audience in the process of European funding. Through modern communication channels, awareness campaigns, interactive events, and public consultations can be organized to encourage active participation and contribution from the public in identifying community needs and priorities. By conveying a clear, captivating message adapted to the needs and values of the funders, potential beneficiaries can effectively highlight the relevance and impact of their projects, thereby increasing their chances of being selected for funding. Innovative communication approaches can contribute to improving Romania's image and reputation in terms of accessing and utilizing European funds. By promoting positive outcomes, successful projects, and the benefits brought by European funding, confidence and appreciation towards Romania as a serious partner capable of efficiently utilizing European resources can be strengthened.

Overall, innovative approaches to communication in European funding in Romania are important because they facilitate access, simplify the process, promote transparency, stimulate innovation, and involve the public in obtaining and implementing European funds. These approaches can contribute to sustainable development and increase the chances of success in utilizing these resources for the benefit of Romania and its citizens.



#### RELEVANCE AND CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE SCIENTIFIC FIELD

By studying and investigating the specific aspects of communication in the field of European funding in Romania, the research paper makes an important contribution to the deep understanding of the phenomena and fundamental principles governing the relationship between beneficiaries of European funds and the authorities responsible for managing these funds. The paper thus brings multiple contributions to the current scientific achievements in the field, both in fundamental research and applied research.

#### Contributions to fundamental research

By investigating the concepts of "communication", "communication models", "marketing" "communication in marketing", "budget" and "EU budget", the paper contributes to theoretical research. Within the analysis of these concepts, the interconnections between them were explored, and existing theories for each concept were critically examined and evaluated in terms of their empirical support. A first contribution lies in the fact that the paper has systematized and classified the concepts and principles into a coherent and structured framework, thereby facilitating their understanding and assimilation in the field of European funding in Romania.

By selecting suitable communication models from the literature for the field of European funding in Romania and applying them in the beneficiary-authority relationship, the paper contributes to theoretical and applied research by combining theoretical aspects with practical application. **The second contribution** lies in the application of these models in the field of European funding in Romania, which has revealed valuable information about the communication process between beneficiaries and the authorities involved. The results have highlighted that the communication process in the field of European funding can be approached from multiple perspectives, such as the type of funding, its purpose, content and means of communication, its effects, and the protagonists involved.

A third contribution the paper brings to the current state of knowledge is the explanation of specific phenomena in the relationship between the authorities managing European funds, consultants, and beneficiaries through the lens of information asymmetry theory. This sheds light on certain nuances in the relationships between the parties involved, showing that all three protagonists involved in attracting European funds are responsible for achieving an optimal absorption rate of these funds.

## Contributions to applied research

The fourth contribution lies in the qualitative research findings that have highlighted certain differences in communication between European and national authorities and beneficiaries of European funds in Romania, as well as the main communication obstacles faced by beneficiaries when accessing these funds.

The fifth contribution is the quantitative research results, which have shown that, in the opinion of beneficiaries, there is a direct and intense link between communication and the absorption rate of European funds in Romania, and that improving the communication process needs to take into account certain factors such as preferences for specific communication tools, the funding needs of beneficiaries, communication skills, and others.



The sixth contribution the paper brings is related to synthesizing the funding options of Member States for the period 2021–2027 into a single document, which includes the available funding options through the Multiannual Financial Framework (MFF) 2021–2027 and the Next Generation EU (NG-EU) program, categorized by headings, domains, programs, or funds, with direct references to relevant information on the respective websites where these options can be accessed.

**The seventh contribution** is the set of innovative approaches identified to improve the communication process between authorities and beneficiaries, which can serve as a useful tool for developing effective communication strategies tailored to the needs of beneficiaries.

The eighth contribution is that the paper proposes an approach to communication in European funding from a marketing perspective, despite the regulated nature of the field. It has been shown that by applying specific marketing techniques, favorable attitudes, opinions, and behaviors can be generated regarding the access to European funds, and possible coordinates for an innovative approach to communication in the field have been identified. Furthermore, the field has been analyzed from the perspective of the external environment, the marketing microenvironment, and the marketing mix.



#### **FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS**

European funding in Romania represents **a real and tangible opportunity** because it contributes to improving the quality of life in communities that are successful in attracting this type of funding. At the same time, it poses a challenge because the process of attracting and utilizing these funds can often be complex. This research has highlighted certain aspects of communication and captured nuances and details of the relationship between beneficiaries of European funds and the authorities responsible for managing these funds. Throughout the research, new questions and directions for exploration have emerged regarding how the communication process between beneficiaries and authorities can be improved.

A first future research direction could be the further exploration of information asymmetry theory in the field of European funding in Romania, considering that the qualitative study has revealed only a small part of the issues related to sources of mistrust in the beneficiary-authority relationship. Considering the limitations of the conducted research, it may be worth reiterating them in future activities, both among communication specialists and especially among the authorities responsible for managing European funds in Romania.

Another future research direction could involve investigating the perception that beneficiaries of European funds who are "public institutions" have about communication with authorities in Romania, starting from the premise that in the case of public institutions, the perception is better than that of beneficiaries who are "commercial companies" or "NGOs". Another direction of research could examine to what extent the perception of communication is influenced by certain independent variables (experience in projects funded by European funds, legal form of the organization, role within the organization, project duration, age, gender, education).

A new research direction could investigate the extent to which there is a direct link between communication with authorities and the intention to access European funds. Additionally, the analysis could explore how the obstacles in the authority-beneficiary communication and the preference for a particular communication tool vary depending on the project duration.

Other research directions could start from general questions such as:

- In which development regions is the perception of communication predominantly positive? What do the authorities in those regions do regarding communication that leads to a positive perception?
- To what extent is there a connection between the preference for a specific communication tool and the MFF/development region in which the project was implemented?
- Can a connection be identified between the development region, the level of education, and the willingness to access European funds?
- To what extent do the competencies of employees in the authorities responsible for managing European funds influence the communication process between beneficiaries and the authorities in Romania?



#### **DISSEMINATION OF RESULTS**

The research findings were disseminated through their publication in ISI-indexed scientific journals, in articles published in internationally indexed databases, as well as through participation in relevant conferences in the field. This dissemination strategy enabled sharing the discoveries of the research with the academic community and those interested in the subject. Through these communication channels, contribution was made to the advancement of knowledge and the development of scientific debates in the field of financing through European funds in Romania.

# Articles published in ISI-indexed journals:

- 1. Turcas, I., Popa, D., Maican, C., **Muṣa (Piuaru), B.A.**, & Grigoroiu, M.C. (2023). **Universities in the process of co-working with the labor market**. *Amazonia Investiga, 12*(63), 330-340. <a href="https://doi.org/10.34069/AI/2023.63.03.31">https://doi.org/10.34069/AI/2023.63.03.31</a>
- 2. Piuaru, B.-A. M., & Tescaşiu, B. (2022). Innovation in communication in the European funding process. *Proceedings of the International Conference on Business Excellence, 16*(1), 610–620. https://doi.org/10.2478/picbe-2022-0058

## Articles published in internationally indexed databases:

- 1. Musa (Piuaru), B.-A. (2023). Communication as an Influencing Factor for the Absorption Rate of European Funds in Romania. *Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Brasov. Series V: Economic Sciences, 16*(65), 29–38. <a href="https://doi.org/10.31926/but.es.2023.16.65.1.4">https://doi.org/10.31926/but.es.2023.16.65.1.4</a>
- 2. Tescașiu, B, Piuaru, B. A., Grigoroiu, M. C., Țurcaș, I. (2022). Graduates and Employability A Quantitative Research at the Tertiary Level. *Journal Of Smart Economic Growth, 7*(3), <a href="https://jseg.ro/index.php/jseg/article/view/209/131">https://jseg.ro/index.php/jseg/article/view/209/131</a>

# Participation in conferences/presentation of papers at conferences:

- 1. International Conference "Inclusive and sustainable economic growth. Challenges, measures and solutions", 26.05.2023, Braşov, România, "From opportunity to challenge in European funded projects in Romania. A perspective of the beneficiaries", Musa (Piuaru), B.-A.
- 30th International Economic Conference IECS 2023, 25 27.05.2023, Sibiu, România, "Impact evaluation of new sustainable cities and communities' policies in the hospitality and service businesses in Brasov region of Romania", Draghici, S. I., Turcas I., Tescașiu, B. & Musa (Piuaru), B.-A.
- 3. 3nd Edition of the International Conference Modern Trends in Business, Hospitality, and Tourism. Sustainable Approaches and Business Challenges in Times of Crisis, 4-6.05.2023, Cluj, România, "Factors influencing the consumption of organic coffee and the level of ethical consumerism", Şerbanescu, I. M., Turcas I., Tescaşiu, B. & Musa (Piuaru), B.-A.



- 4. International Conference "Risk in Contemporary Economy" (RCE 2023), 21 22 aprilie 2023, Galați, România, "The wine industry in Romania a customer behavior perspective", Turcas I., Tescașiu B. & Musa (Piuaru), B.-A.
- 5. The 17th International Conference on Business Excellence Rethinking business: Sustainable leadership in a VUCA world în secțiunea Social Innovation And Entrepreneurship Ecosystem, 23-25.03.2023, București, România, "The role of Romanian Startup Hubs a bridge between a business idea and the reality of the economic sector", Ion, S., Turcas, I., Musa (Piuaru), B.-A. & Tescașiu, B.
- 6. Inclusive and sustainable economic growth. Challenges, measures and solutions, secţiunea Recent advances in economics, 27.05.2022, Braşov, România, "The absorption rate of European funds in Romania. An analysis of its evolution from accession into EU until the COVID-19 pandemic", Musa (Piuaru), B.-A. & Tescaşiu, B.



#### **SELECTIVE BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Agenția pentru Finanțarea Investițiilor Rurale și Comisia Europeană. (2023). Lista firme de consultanță. <a href="https://afir.info/informatii\_institutionale\_organism\_coordonator\_beneficiari\_plati\_fega\_si\_feadr">https://afir.info/informatii\_institutionale\_organism\_coordonator\_beneficiari\_plati\_fega\_si\_feadr</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 2. Akerlof, G. A. (1970). *The Market for "Lemons": Quality Uncertainty and the Market Mechanism.* The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 84(3). <a href="https://viterbi-web.usc.edu/~shaddin/cs590fa13/papers/AkerlofMarketforLemons.pdf">https://viterbi-web.usc.edu/~shaddin/cs590fa13/papers/AkerlofMarketforLemons.pdf</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 3. Allen, R., & Tommasi, D. (eds.) (2001). *Managing Public Expenditure: A Reference Book for Transition Countries*, OECD Publishing, Paris.
- 4. Alvarez, M. C. (2020). What the absorption of structural funds says about the EU recovery plan. *Funcas Europe*. https://www.funcas.es/articulos/what-the-absorption-of-structural-funds-says-about-the-eurecovery-plan/, accesat la 07.06.2023
- Amadeo, K. (2021). Budget Deficits and How to Reduce Them. *The Balance*.
   <a href="https://www.thebalancemoney.com/budget-deficit-definition-and-how-it-affects-the-economy-3305820">https://www.thebalancemoney.com/budget-deficit-definition-and-how-it-affects-the-economy-3305820</a>, accessat la 07.06.2023
- 6. Amarița. A. (2014). Bugetul Uniunii Europene evoluție, perspective. *Revista Română de Statistică Supliment Nr. 5.* https://www.revistadestatistica.ro/supliment/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/RRRS05\_2014\_A2\_ro.pdf, accesat la 07.06.2023
- Arjomand, M., Emami, K., & Salimi, F. (2016). Growth and Productivity; The Role of Budget Deficit in the MENA Selected Countries. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *36*, 345–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(16)30046-6
- 8. Asociația Americană de Marketing. (2023b). *What Is Marketing*. <a href="https://www.ama.org/the-definition-of-marketing-what-is-marketing/">https://www.ama.org/the-definition-of-marketing-what-is-marketing/</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 9. Banca Centrală Europeană. (2023). *Avantajele euro pentru tine*.

  <a href="https://www.ecb.europa.eu/ecb/educational/explainers/tell-me/html/benefits-euro-euroat20.ro.html">https://www.ecb.europa.eu/ecb/educational/explainers/tell-me/html/benefits-euro-euroat20.ro.html</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 10. Barone, A., Anderson, S., & Kazel, M. (2023). Budget Deficit: Causes, Effects, and Prevention Strategies. *Investopedia*. <a href="https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/budget-deficit.asp">https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/budget-deficit.asp</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- Benedetto, G. (2019). Istoricul bugetului UE. Afaceri bugetare.
   <a href="https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/IDAN/2019/636475/IPOL\_IDA(2019)636475\_RO.pdf">https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/IDAN/2019/636475/IPOL\_IDA(2019)636475\_RO.pdf</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 12. Berlo, D. K. (1960). The process of communication. Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- 13. Borțun, D. (2002). Semiotica. Bazele epistemologice ale comunicării. Comunicare.ro.
- 14. Brătucu, G., & Ispas, A. (1999). Introducere în marketingul social. Editura Infomarket.
- 15. Brătucu, G., Ispas, A., & Chitu, I.-B. (1999). Marketingul serviciilor publice. Editura Infomarket.
- 16. Buchholz, K. (2020). *Which Countries are EU Contributors and Beneficiaries?* Statista GmbH. <a href="https://www.statista.com/chart/18794/net-contributors-to-eu-budget/">https://www.statista.com/chart/18794/net-contributors-to-eu-budget/</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 17. Burnett, J. (2003). *Core concepts of marketing*. Wiley.
- 18. Capotă, V., Popa, F., & Ghinescu, C. (2006). Marketingul afacerii. Akademos Art.
- 19. Comisia Europeană. (2017). *Financial Guidelines*. <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=1922&langId=en">https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=1922&langId=en</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 20. Comisia Europeană. (2019). *Manualul utilizatorului pentru definiția IMM-urilor*. <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/docsroom/documents/42921/attachments/1/translations/ro/renditions/native">https://ec.europa.eu/docsroom/documents/42921/attachments/1/translations/ro/renditions/native</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023



- 21. Comisia Europeană, A. E. E. pentru C. (2022). *Are you communicating your Horizon Europe project?* https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2848/078892
- 22. Comisia Europeană, D. G. B. (2009). *EU budget 2008: financial report.* <a href="https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2761/10839">https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2761/10839</a>
- 23. Comisia Europeană, D. G. B. (2014a). *Bugetul UE în țara mea România*. <a href="https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/1958b6a4-24e3-4299-b47f-8e561098dfbf/language-ro/format-PDF/source-233580803">https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/1958b6a4-24e3-4299-b47f-8e561098dfbf/language-ro/format-PDF/source-233580803</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 24. Comisia Europeană, D. G. B. (2014b). *European Union public finance*. https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2761/17724
- 25. Comisia Europeană, D. G. B. (2015). *A beginner's guide to EU funding: an overview of EU funding opportunities in 2014–20*. https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2761/236387
- 26. Comisia Europeană, D. G. B. (2019). *Bugetul UE pe scurt*. <a href="https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2761/39610">https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2761/39610</a>
- 27. Comisia Europeană, D. G. B. (2020a). *Bugetul UE în țara mea: România*. https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2761/527535
- 28. Comisia Europeană, D. G. B. (2021a). *Financial regulation applicable to the general budget of the Union:*\*\*July 2018. Publications Office\*\*
- 29. Comisia Europeană, D. G. B. (2021b). *The EU's 2021-2027 long-term budget and Next Generation EU:* facts and figures., Direcția Generală Buget
- 30. Comisia Europeană, D. G. B. (2023b). *Financial Transparency System data from 2014 to 2021*. <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/budget/financial-transparency-system/analysis.html">https://ec.europa.eu/budget/financial-transparency-system/analysis.html</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 31. Comisia Europeană, D. G. C. (2017). *Document de reflecție privind viitorul finanțelor UE*. Publications Office.
- 32. Comisia Europeană, D. G. C. (2019a). Bugetul UE pe scurt. https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2761/39610
- 33. Comisia Europeană, D. G. C. (2019b). *Bugetul UE pentru viitor: un buget al UE modern, la înălțimea provocărilor viitoare*. <a href="https://op.europa.eu/ro/publication-detail/-/publication/ff7e1a25-f6d2-11e9-8c1f-01aa75ed71a1/language-ro/format-PDF/source-288676080">https://op.europa.eu/ro/publication-detail/-/publication/ff7e1a25-f6d2-11e9-8c1f-01aa75ed71a1/language-ro/format-PDF/source-288676080</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 34. Comisia Europeană, D. G. C. (2023e). *Beneficiarii fondurilor europene*. https://commission.europa.eu/about-european-commission/service-standards-and-principles/transparency/funding-recipients\_ro, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 35. Comisia Europeană, D. G. C. (2023g). *Ce este bine să știți despre finanțarea UE înainte de a o solicita*. <a href="https://commission.europa.eu/funding-tenders/how-apply/you-apply-eu-funding-beginners\_ro">https://commission.europa.eu/funding-tenders/how-apply/you-apply-eu-funding-beginners\_ro</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 36. Comisia Europeană, D. G. C. (2023j). *Comunicare și creșterea vizibilității UE*. <a href="https://commission.europa.eu/funding-tenders/managing-your-project/communicating-and-raising-eu-visibility\_ro">https://commission.europa.eu/funding-tenders/managing-your-project/communicating-and-raising-eu-visibility\_ro</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 37. Comisia Europeană, D. G. C. (2023p). *Eligibilitate: cine poate obține finanțare?*<a href="https://commission.europa.eu/funding-tenders/how-apply/eligibility-who-can-get-funding\_ro">https://commission.europa.eu/funding-tenders/how-apply/eligibility-who-can-get-funding\_ro</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 38. Comisia Europeană, D. G. C. (2023q). *F&T Portal. Find calls for proposals and tenders*. https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/portal/screen/home, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 39. Comisia Europeană, D. G. C. (2023u). *Planul de redresare pentru Europa*.

  <a href="https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/recovery-plan-europe\_ro">https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/recovery-plan-europe\_ro</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 40. Comisia Europeană, D. G. C. (2023y). *Profiluri de țară. România*. <a href="https://european-union.europa.eu/principles-countries-history/country-profiles/romania\_ro">https://european-union.europa.eu/principles-countries-history/country-profiles/romania\_ro</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023



- 41. Comisia Europeană, D. G. C. (2023ad). *The standard annual budget procedure*. <a href="https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/eu-budget/how-it-works/annual-lifecycle/preparation\_ro">https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/eu-budget/how-it-works/annual-lifecycle/preparation\_ro</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 42. Comisia Europeană, D. G. P. R. și U. (2023a). *Cohesion open data platform.* <a href="https://cohesiondata.ec.europa.eu/overview/14-20">https://cohesiondata.ec.europa.eu/overview/14-20</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 43. Consiliul Uniunii Europene. (2020b). *Multiannual financial framework 2021–2027 and Next Generation EU.* https://www.consilium.europa.eu/media/47567/mff-2021-2027\_rev.pdf, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 44. Consiliul Uniunii Europene. (2023). *Bugetul anual al UE*. <a href="https://www.consilium.europa.eu/ro/policies/the-eu-budget/eu-annual-budget/">https://www.consilium.europa.eu/ro/policies/the-eu-budget/eu-annual-budget/</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 45. Constantin, C. (2009). Cercetări de marketing. Note de curs.
- 46. Cooper, D. R., & Schindler, P. S. (2006). Business Research Methods (9th ed.). McGraw-Hill/Irwin.
- 47. Croitor, D. (2020). Fonduri Nerambursabile: ce sunt și posibilități de accesare.

  <a href="https://obtineclienti.ro/financiar/fonduri-nerambursabile-ce-sunt-si-posibilitati-de-accesare/">https://obtineclienti.ro/financiar/fonduri-nerambursabile-ce-sunt-si-posibilitati-de-accesare/</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 48. Cuilenburg, J. J., Scholten, O., & Noomen, G. W. (2004). *Ştiinţa comunicării*. Humanitas.
- 49. De Fleur, M. L., & Rockeach, S. B. (1999). Teorii ale comunicării de masă. Polirom.
- 50. Delasnerie, A. (2023). *Cadrul financiar multianual. Fișe descriptive despre Uniunea Europeană*. <a href="https://www.europarl.europa.eu/ftu/pdf/ro/FTU\_1.4.3.pdf">https://www.europarl.europa.eu/ftu/pdf/ro/FTU\_1.4.3.pdf</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 51. Diamond, J., & Potter, B. H. (1999). *Guidelines for Public Expenditure Management*. <a href="https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/expend/">https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/expend/</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 52. Dinu, M. (2000). Comunicarea: repere fundamentale. Algos.
- 53. Dobre, A. (2019). Importanța disciplinei și flexibilității bugetare în procesul de elaborare a bugetului.

  \*\*Revista Finanțe Publice Şi Contabilitate, 2, 15–19.\*

  https://mfinante.gov.ro/documents/35673/250470/articol\_rfpc\_nr3\_2019.pdf, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 54. Dobrescu, P., Bârgăoanu, A., & Corbu, N. (2007). Istoria comunicării. Comunicare.ro.
- 55. Drucker, P. F. (1999). *The discipline of innovation*. Harvard Business Review.
- 56. Drucker, P. F. (2010). *The practice of management*. Harper Collins e-books.
- 57. Epuran, G., Zait, L., Nichifor, B., & Timiras, L. (2012). Predisposing factors and barriers in the absorption of EU funds conceptual and operational aspects. *STUDIES AND SCIENTIFIC RESEARCHES. ECONOMICS EDITION*, 16–17. https://doi.org/10.29358/sceco.v0i16-17.88
- 58. Fârte, G.-I. (2004). Comunicarea. O abordare praxiologică. Casa Editorială Demiurg.
- 59. Fiske, J. (2003). *Introducere în științele comunicării*. Polirom.
- 60. Gelămancă, B., & Zai, P. (2013). Abordări privind absorbția fondurilor structurale în România în perioada 2007-2013. *Revista Transilvană de Științe Administrative*, 15(33), 76–88.
- 61. Georgescu, G. (2008). "Determinants Of Increasing Eu Funds Absorption Capacity In Romania". *Annales Universitatis Apulensis Series Oeconomica*, 2(10), 550–557. https://doi.org/10.29302/oeconomica.2008.10.2.16
- 62. Graur, E. (2001). *Tehnici de comunicare*. Editura Mediamira.
- 63. Harmon-Jones, E., & Mills, J. (2019). An introduction to cognitive dissonance theory and an overview of current perspectives on the theory. In *Cognitive dissonance: Reexamining a pivotal theory in psychology (2nd ed.).* (pp. 3–24). American Psychological Association. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0000135-001">https://doi.org/10.1037/0000135-001</a>
- 64. Heise, J. (1985). Toward Closing The Confidence Gap: An Alternative Approach To Communication Between Public And Government. *Public Administration Quarterly*, 9(2), 196–217. <a href="http://www.jstor.org/stable/40861057">http://www.jstor.org/stable/40861057</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 65. H.L. Goodall Jr., K. S. și L. L. B. (2021). *Communication and Society: A Critical Introduction*. Editura Oxford University Press.



- 66. Hosu, I., Deac, M., & Mosoreanu, M. (2012). Relația dintre autorități locale și cetățeni. Interacțiuni și percepții. *Revista Transilvană de Științe Administrative*, 14(30), 73–83. <a href="https://rtsa.ro/rtsa/index.php/rtsa/article/view/41">https://rtsa.ro/rtsa/index.php/rtsa/article/view/41</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 67. Kersan-Škabić, I., & Tijanić, L. (2017). Regional absorption capacity of EU funds. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja*, 30(1), 1191–1208. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677X.2017.1340174">https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677X.2017.1340174</a>
- 68. Kołodziejski, M. (2023). *Coeziunea economică, socială și teritorială*. <a href="https://www.europarl.europa.eu/erpl-app-public/factsheets/pdf/ro/FTU\_3.1.1.pdf">https://www.europarl.europa.eu/erpl-app-public/factsheets/pdf/ro/FTU\_3.1.1.pdf</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 69. Kotler, P. (1997). Managementul marketingului, analiză, planificare, implementare, control. Editura Teora.
- 70. Kotler, P., Armstrong, G., Wong, V., & Saunders, J. (2008). *Principles of marketing* (5th ed.). Pearson Education Limited.
- 71. Kotler, P., Kartajaya, H., & Setiawan, I. (2016). Marketing 4.0: Moving from Traditional to Digital.
- 72. Krasnov, A., Okanova, A., Yeraliyeva, Y., Kozhakhmetova, M., Karshalova, A., & Aitkazina, M. (2020). Development of the financial policy of the Eurasian economic union countries: tax harmonization. *Entrepreneurship and Sustainability Issues, 8*(1), 138–149. <a href="https://doi.org/10.9770/jesi.2020.8.1(9)">https://doi.org/10.9770/jesi.2020.8.1(9)</a>
- 73. Krueger, R. A., & Casey, M. A. (2009). *Focus Groups: A Practical Guide for Applied Research*. Sage Publications.
- 74. Kumar, B. (2022). What is revenue budget. *Business Standard*. <a href="https://www.business-standard.com/podcast/finance/what-is-revenue-budget-122012800059\_1.html">https://www.business-standard.com/podcast/finance/what-is-revenue-budget-122012800059\_1.html</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 75. Leruth, L., & Paul, E. (2007). Principal-Agent Theory Approach to Public Expenditure Management Systems in Developing Countries. *OECD Journal on Budgeting*, 7(3). https://www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/43411818.pdf, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 76. Lesenciuc, A. (2017). Teorii ale comunicării. Editura Academiei Forțelor Aeriene Henri Coandă.
- 77. Luca, A. (2005). *Valorile și comportamentul românesc*. <a href="https://revistacariere.ro/inovatie/studii-analize/valorile-si-comportamentul-romanesc/">https://revistacariere.ro/inovatie/studii-analize/valorile-si-comportamentul-romanesc/</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 78. Luca, M. (2005). Comunicare organizațională. Editura Infomarket.
- 79. Marcu, L., Kandzija, T., & Dorotic, J. (2020). EU Funds Absorption: Case of Romania. *Postmodern Openings*, *11*(4), 41–63. <a href="https://doi.org/10.18662/po/11.4/222">https://doi.org/10.18662/po/11.4/222</a>
- 80. Micu, B., Pislaru, D., Puiu Latea, D. N., & Constantinescu, O. (2013). Studiu privind comunicarea in domeniul instrumentelor structurale la nivel local si regional regiunile de dezvoltare Centru, Vest, Nord Vest. https://www.fonduri-ue.ro/images/files/studii-analize/5086/Raport\_de\_cercetare\_integrat\_Final\_-\_CS\_1.7-ilovepdf-compressed.pdf, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 81. Ministerul Dezvoltării Regionale și Administrației Publice. (2013). Raport de analiză comparativă. Sondaj de opinie în vederea măsurării gradului de informare a publicului general privind Regio Programul Opera ional Regional Iulie 2012 Iunie 2013. https://www.fonduri-ue.ro/images/files/studii-analize/41085/2\_2013\_AB\_Research\_Raport\_- analiza\_comparativa.pdf, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 82. Ministerul Dezvoltării Regionale și Administrației Publice. (2015). Raport de cercetare SINTETIC –

  Evaluarea măsurilor de informare și publicitate desfășurate prin Planul de comunicare POR 2007-2013 –

  iunie 2015. https://www.fonduri-ue.ro/images/files/studii
  analize/41085bis/1\_2015\_IRES\_Regio\_Raport%20sintetic%20iul%202015\_R0.pdf, accesat la

  07.06.2023
- 83. Ministerul Dezvoltării Regionale și Turismului. (2012). Sondaj de opinie în vederea măsurării gradului de informare a publicului general privind Regio Programul Opera ional Regional Iulie 2012. https://www.fonduri-ue.ro/images/files/studii-analize/41085/5\_2012\_AB\_Research\_RAPORT\_CERCETARE\_iulie\_2012.pdf, accesat la 07.06.2023



- 84. Ministerul Economiei şi Finan telor. (2007). Strategia Națională de Comunicare pentru Instrumentele Structurale 2007-2013 în România. https://www.fonduri-ue.ro/2007/res/filepicker\_users/cd25a597fd-62/Legislatie/nationala/1\_Gestionarea\_asistentei\_nerambursabile/16\_Strategie\_de\_Comunicare.pdf, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 85. Ministerul Finanțelor Publice. (2023). *Evoluția fluxurilor financiare dintre România și Uniunea Europeană* (balanța financiară netă). https://mfinante.gov.ro/documents/35673/920747/BFN-2023\_03\_31.pdf, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 86. Ministerul Fondurilor Europene. (2014). *Strategia de Comunicare pentru Instrumentele Structurale 2014-2020*. <a href="https://www.fonduri-ue.ro/comunicare/comunicare">https://www.fonduri-ue.ro/comunicare/comunicare</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 87. Ministerul Fondurilor Europene. (2019). *Cercetare cantitativă și cercetare calitativă Fondurile europene pe înțelesul tuturor*. <a href="https://www.fonduri-ue.ro/comunicare/studii-analize/details/10/68/cercetare-cantitativ%C4%83-%C8%99i-cercetare-calitativ%C4%83-fondurile-europene-pe-%C3%AEn%C8%9Belesul-tuturor,">tuturor,</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 88. Ministerul Fondurilor Europene. (2021). *MySMIS pe înțelesul tuturor. Îndrumări practice pentru utilizatorii aplicației. Componenta FrontOffice. Versiune Manual 0.1. Versiune aplicație 3.2.35.*<a href="https://mfe.gov.ro/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/df2df2bbff91675d1b43466f015bd7cb.pdf">https://mfe.gov.ro/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/df2df2bbff91675d1b43466f015bd7cb.pdf</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 89. Ministerul Investițiilor și Proiectelor Europene. (2021). *Planul Național de Redresare și Reziliență al României. Direcția Generală Management Mecanism de Redresare și Reziliență*. <a href="https://mfe.gov.ro/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/facada6fdd5c00de72eecd8ab49da550.pdf">https://mfe.gov.ro/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/facada6fdd5c00de72eecd8ab49da550.pdf</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 90. Ministerul Investițiilor și Proiectelor Europene. (2022). *Ghid de identitate vizuală. Vizibilitate, transparență și comunicare în perioada de programare 2021-2027*. https://www.fonduri-ue.ro/images/files/documente-relevante/2022/Ghid\_de\_identitate\_vizuala\_v5.docx, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 91. Ministerul Investițiilor și Proiectelor Europene. (2023a). *Harta finanțărilor din fonduri europene până la data de 31 decembrie 2022*. <a href="https://mfe.gov.ro/harta-finantarilor-din-fonduri-europene-pana-la-data-de-31-decembrie-2022/">https://mfe.gov.ro/harta-finantarilor-din-fonduri-europene-pana-la-data-de-31-decembrie-2022/</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 92. Mohorea, E., Ciobanu, E., & Capcelea, V. (2018). *Introducere în știința comunicării. Material didactic: pentru instituțiile de învățământ superior.* Indogou Color.
- 93. Nastasiu, S. (2018). Aspecte din istoria studiului comunicării. History of communication study. *World Science*, *3*(8(36)), 29–33. <a href="https://doi.org/10.31435/rsglobal\_ws/30082018/6075">https://doi.org/10.31435/rsglobal\_ws/30082018/6075</a>
- 94. Nayak, M. S. D. P., & Narayan K A. (2019). Strengths and Weakness of Online Surveys. *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, *24*(5), 31–38. <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/333207786\_Strengths\_and\_Weakness\_of\_Online\_Surveys">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/333207786\_Strengths\_and\_Weakness\_of\_Online\_Surveys</a>
- 95. Nechita, F. (2020). *Comunicarea de marketing a muzeelor în era digitală*. Presa Universitară Clujeană.
- 96. Nili, A., Tate, M., & Johnstone, D. (2017). *A Framework and Approach for Analysis of Focus Group Data in Information Systems Research*. Communications of the Association for Information Systems, 40, 1–21. <a href="https://doi.org/10.17705/1CAIS.04001">https://doi.org/10.17705/1CAIS.04001</a>
- 97. Olivares Francisco Padilla. (2023). *Cheltuielile Uniunii*. <a href="https://www.europarl.europa.eu/ftu/pdf/ro/FTU\_1.4.2.pdf">https://www.europarl.europa.eu/ftu/pdf/ro/FTU\_1.4.2.pdf</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 98. Parlamentul European. (2019). *Better communication for cohesion policy*.

  <a href="https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2019/635575/EPRS\_BRI(2019)635575\_EN.pdf">https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2019/635575/EPRS\_BRI(2019)635575\_EN.pdf</a>

  , accesat la 07.06.2023
- 99. Pătruțiu-Balteș, L. (2016). Inbound Marketing the most important digital strategy. *Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Brașov, 9*(59).



- http://webbut2.unitbv.ro/BU2016/Series%20V/BULETIN%20I/07\_Patrutiu\_Baltes.pdf, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 100. Pegan, A., Mendez, C., & Triga, V. (2018). What do citizens think of Cohesion Policy and does it matter for European identity? A comparative focus group analysis. Cohesify. <a href="http://www.cohesify.eu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/FocusGroup\_ResearchPaper13.pdf">http://www.cohesify.eu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/FocusGroup\_ResearchPaper13.pdf</a>, accessat la 07.06.2023
- 101. Piuaru, B.-A. M., & Tescaşiu, B. (2022). Innovation in communication in the European funding process. *Proceedings of the International Conference on Business Excellence*, 16(1), 610–620. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2478/picbe-2022-0058">https://doi.org/10.2478/picbe-2022-0058</a>
- 102. Qualtrics LLC. (2023). *How to increase survey response rates*. <a href="https://www.qualtrics.com/uk/experience-management/research/improve-survey-">https://www.qualtrics.com/uk/experience-management/research/improve-survey-</a> response/?rid=ip&prevsite=en&newsite=uk&geo=RO&geomatch=uk, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 103. Rust, R. T. (2020). The future of marketing. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, *37*(1), 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2019.08.002
- 104. Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2009). *Research methods for business students (5th ed.).* Pearson Education Limited.
- 105. Schwarcz, A. (2023). *Veniturile Uniunii*. <a href="https://www.europarl.europa.eu/ftu/pdf/ro/FTU\_1.4.1.pdf">https://www.europarl.europa.eu/ftu/pdf/ro/FTU\_1.4.1.pdf</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 106. Şerban, O. (2014). *Managementul Cunoașterii. Factor determinant în accelerarea procesului de absorbție a fondurilor europene*.
- 107. Stănciugelu, I., Tudor, R., Tran, A., & Tran, V. (2004). *Teoria comunicării*. Tritonic.
- 108. Stewart, D. W., & Shamdasani, P. (2014). Focus Groups: Theory and Practice (3rd ed.). Publications, Inc.
- 109. Tudor, M. M., & Florain, V. (2018). Impactul Şi Eficacitatea Strategiilor De Comunicare În Contextul Politicii De Coeziune A Ue -Studiu De Caz -România. Economia Agroalimentară Şi Dezvoltarea Rurală Din Perspectiva Integrării Europene.
  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/336085935\_IMPACTUL\_SI\_EFICACITATEA\_STRATEGIILOR\_DE\_COMUNICARE\_IN\_CONTEXTUL\_POLITICII\_DE\_COEZIUNE\_A\_UE\_-STUDIU\_DE\_CAZ\_-ROMANIA, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 110. Tuomi, I. (2002). Networks of innovation. Oxford University Press.
- 111. Westley, B. H., & MacLean, M. S. (1957). A conceptual model for communication research. *Journalism Quarterly*, *34*(1), 31–38.
- 112. Wildavsky, A. (1988). The New Politics of the Budgetary Process. Foresman.
- 113. www.mercator.fr. (2023). *Lexique du marketing*. <a href="https://www.mercator.fr/lexique-marketing-definition-marketing-chapitre-1">https://www.mercator.fr/lexique-marketing-definition-marketing-chapitre-1</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 114. Zaman, G., & Georgescu, G. (2014). *The absorption of structural and cohesion funds in Romania: balance of the period 2007-2013 and lessons for the current financial exercise*. <a href="https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/56144/1/MPRA\_paper\_56144.pdf">https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/56144/1/MPRA\_paper\_56144.pdf</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023
- 115. Zaharia, R. (2001). *Marketing social-politic*.
- 116. Zeffane, R., A Tipu, S., & Ryan, J. C. (2011). Communication, Commitment & Exploring the Triad. *International Journal of Business and Management, 6*(6). <a href="https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v6n6p77">https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v6n6p77</a>
- 117. Zerfass, A., & Huck, S. (2007). Innovation, Communication, and Leadership: New Developments in Strategic Communication. *International Journal of Strategic Communication*, *1*(2), 107–122. https://doi.org/10.1080/15531180701298908
- 118. Zoho Corporation Pvt. Ltd. (2023). *Ratings and Recognition*. <a href="https://www.zoho.com/survey/">https://www.zoho.com/survey/</a>, accesat la 07.06.2023